# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-30-2018

# State v. Medina Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45117

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Introduction

Jerrson Roque Medina was found guilty of Trafficking in Heroin and Conspiracy to Violate the Uniform Controlled Substances Act after a jury trial. R 400. He was sentenced to concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty years with fifteen years determinate. A \$25,000 fine was imposed in each case. R 197, 412.

The Conspiracy conviction should be reversed and a judgment of acquittal entered because the state's evidence, taken as true, is constitutionally insufficient. The remaining Trafficking conviction should be reversed because court committed fundamental error in permitting Mr. Medina to be shackled before the jury. (This error applies to the conspiracy charge too, if a judgment of acquittal is not granted.)

Alternatively, the conspiracy conviction should be reversed because the court committed fundamental error by permitting the jury to return a guilty verdict based upon overt acts which were not committed by any named or unnamed conspirator and/or could not be done in furtherance of the conspiracy as a matter of law.

### **B.** Proceedings Below and Trial Evidence

Mr. Medina was charged in two separate cases. Bannock Co. CR-2016-5675 charged with Trafficking in Heroin, by the knowing possession of at least 28 grams of heroin on or about April 14, 2016. R 62. The conspiracy count alleged that he, "Sharon Bernal-Valadez, and Logan Joyce, and other unnamed or unknown people . . . on or between the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> day of April, 2016, did willfully and knowingly

1

combine, conspire, confederate and agree to traffic a controlled substance, to wit: Heroin[.]" R 272. The two cases were tried together.

Logan Joyce testified that in late March to early April 2016, he was in contact with Mr. Medina about purchasing heroin. Mr. Joyce would "tell him how much money I had . . . [a]nd he would tell me how much I could get for that." T pg. 188, ln. 21-23. He described their business relationship thus: "I would give him money, and he would give me however much heroin." T pg. 188, ln. 26 – pg. 189, ln. 1.

Mr. Joyce testified that he purchased heroin from Mr. Medina and an unknown male on April 9 or 10. He described the transaction:

Q And what did you do when Jeffrey showed up?

A We got in my car and weighed it out, and I gave him money.

. . . .

Q And at the end of the negotiations and the meeting you had, what happened?

A I'm not sure if I totally follow....

Q You got into the car. You gave him money. Did you exit the vehicle? What did you do?

A I – yeah. Probably shook hands and went our separate ways.

T pg. 224, ln. 8-11.

Mr. Joyce was arrested on April 12, 2016, and began to cooperate with Detective Edgely. T pg. 138, ln. 15-20. Mr. Joyce admitted buying heroin and said he would communicate with Jeffrey via text messages. T pg. 139, ln. 4-6. The detective obtained Mr. Joyce's phone and viewed the texts. Mr. Joyce told the detective that "he was getting approximately 130 grams of heroin every two weeks, and he was paying \$8,000 every two weeks for that heroin." T pg. 138, ln. 2-8. He would either go down to Salt Lake City and pick it up or Mr. Medina would deliver the drugs. Mr. Joyce would usually pay him on the spot, but there was one time where he wired \$3000 to Sharon Bernal-Valadez to complete an \$8000 purchase. T pg. 138, ln. 9-16.

On April 13, 2016, the detective texted the number found on Mr. Joyce's telephone. T pg. 145, ln. 18-19. The detective made arrangements for that person to buy 130 grams of heroin the next day for \$8000. T pg. 145, ln. 18-25. Mr. Joyce was not involved in setting up this transaction. T pg. 198, ln. 12-18.

On April 14, 2016, Mr. Medina and Sharon Bernal-Valadez arrived at Mr. Joyce's apartment complex. They were arrested. Mr. Medina did not have any drugs on his person, but the telephone in his possession rang when the detective dialed the number he had been texting. T pg. 152, ln. 16-24. Ms. Bernal-Valadez was searched and 126 grams (gross weight) of heroin was found. T pg. 168, ln. 10-22. When told that the drugs had been found, Mr. Medina said that it did not belong to him or her, but he could show the police where it came from. T pg. 260, ln. 24-25.

Ms. Bernal-Valadez and Mr. Medina were placed in a patrol vehicle and surreptitiously recorded. Mr. Medina made statements indicating that he was aware of the presence of the drugs. T pg. 270, ln. 23 – pg. 271, ln. 5; Exhibit 4A.

3

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Must the conspiracy conviction be reversed due to the absence of proof that Mr. Medina entered into an agreement with either of the named coconspirators?

2. Was it fundamental error to permit Mr. Medina to appear before the jury shackled and in jail clothing?

3. Was it fundamental error for the court to instruct the jury that it could return a verdict of guilty if it found an overt act which was not committed by a charged member of the conspiracy and/or was not in furtherance of the conspiracy?

### **IV. ARGUMENT**

# A. The State's Evidence was Constitutionally Insufficient to Establish all the Elements of Conspiracy to Traffic in Heroin Beyond a Reasonable Doubt.

### 1. <u>Introduction.</u>

The Information alleged that on or between the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> days of April, 2016, Mr. Medina entered into an agreement with Logan Joyce and Sharon Bernal-Valadez to traffic in a controlled substance, the state's evidence showed that Mr. Medina and Mr. Joyce had a buyer-seller relationship, not an agreement to traffic. Further, Ms. Bernal-Valadez, when called by the state to testify against Mr. Medina, said that she was forced to assist him in the sales to Mr. Joyce and never agreed with Mr. Medina to participate in the sale on April 14. As neither of the coconspirators had an agreement with Mr. Medina or each other, the state's evidence was constitutionally insufficient.

### 2. <u>Standard of review.</u>

A finding of guilt will be overturned on appeal where there is not substantial evidence upon which a reasonable trier of fact could have found that the prosecution sustained its burden of proving the essential elements of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution. *State v. Morales*, 146 Idaho 264, 266, 192 P.3d 1088, 1090 (Ct. App. 2008). Idaho's substantial evidence rule is similar, but not identical, to the federal rule, mandated by the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause, which requires the reviewing court to determine "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979); *see also In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358 (1970).

### 3. <u>Conspiracy requires an agreement.</u>

There is a difference between a conspiracy to commit a crime and the crime itself. United States v. Loveland, 825 F.3d 555, 557 (9th Cir. 2016). Conspiracy, by its nature, requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that at least two persons had an agreement to commit the underlying offense. United States v. Lennick, 18 F.3d 814, 818 (9th Cir. 1994), citing United States v. Hart, 963 F.2d 1278, 1283 (9th Cir. 1992); United States v. Becker, 720 F.2d 1033, 1035 (9th Cir. 1983). The prosecution must show (1) an agreement to accomplish an illegal objective; (2) the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy; and (3) the requisite intent necessary to commit the underlying offense. Id., citing United States v. Melchor-Lopez, 627 F.2d 886, 891 (9th Cir. 1980). Here, there was no agreement to commit trafficking in heroin with either of the named co-conspirators or with law enforcement.Consequently, the conspiracy conviction must be reversed and a judgment of acquittal entered.

#### 4. <u>There was no agreement with Logan Joyce to traffic in heroin.</u>

A relationship where one person offers to sell controlled substances and another agrees to buy them, without more, is not sufficient evidence of a conspiracy. It is evidence of a delivery of a controlled substance on the seller's side and of possession of a controlled substance on the buyer's side. "Conspiracy means an agreement to commit a crime, not commission of the crime." United States v. Loveland, 825 F.3d at 557. The difference is illustrated by Loveland. There, three "coconspirators testified to repeated sales to Loveland of two ounces at a time, each time for \$2,400. And each time, Loveland paid cash on delivery . . . For Loveland . . . it was cash on the barrelhead every time—no discounts, no credit, and no agreement about what he would do with the drugs. Loveland would call when he wanted a delivery, and the conspirators would deliver the usual two one-ounce bags to his house and collect the usual \$2,400." Id. at 558. This evidence was found to be insufficient because proof that a defendant sold drugs to another person does not prove the existence of a conspiracy. Loveland, supra; see also United States v. Lechuga, 994 F.2d 346, 347-50 (7th Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 482 (1993); United States v. Horn, 946 F.2d 738, 740-41 (10th Cir. 1991). "Rather, conspiracy requires proof of 'an agreement to commit a crime other than the crime

that consists of the sale itself.' Were the rule otherwise, every narcotics sale would constitute a conspiracy." *United States v. Lennick*, 18 F.3d 814, 819 (9th Cir. 1994), *quoting Lechuga*, 994 F.2d at 347 (internal citation omitted). The *Loveland* Court concluded that 'regular' purchases on 'standard' terms do not transform a customer into a co-conspirator. 825 F.3d at 562-563, *citing United States v. Colon*, 549 F.3d 565, 567 (7th Cir. 2008).

Here, there was evidence of one sale between Mr. Medina and Mr. Joyce, during the April 2 – April 14 time period alleged in the Information, that taking place on April 8 or 9, where \$8000 was exchanged for 130 grams of heroin.<sup>1</sup> That is evidence that Mr. Medina is guilty of a delivery of a controlled substance but is not evidence of a conspiracy. *Loveland*, *supra*. So, unless there is evidence that Mr. Medina entered into an agreement with someone else there is not sufficient evidence to prove the conspiracy. And, as will be shown below, there is no such evidence.

### 5. <u>There was no agreement with Sharon Bernal-Valadez to traffic in heroin.</u>

Ms. Bernal-Valadez pleaded guilty to the trafficking charge. T pg. 243, ln. 22-23. She received a five-year sentence with three fixed. *State v. Valadez*, No. 44790, 2017 Ida. App. Unpub. LEXIS 270, at \*1 (Ct. App. 2017). When Ms. Bernal-Valadez testified on behalf of the state, she expressly denied the existence of an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The other deliveries took place prior to April 2, but those were of the same nature, a sale of 130 grams for \$8000. T pg. 138, ln. 2-8. As Mr. Joyce explained, "I would give him money, and he would give me however much heroin." T pg. 188, ln. 26 – pg. 189, ln. 1.

agreement between herself and Mr. Medina. She testified about her abusive relationship with Mr. Medina, saying that she had to quit her job because she didn't want to show up for work after he hit her. T pg. 230, ln. 2-6. On April 14, Mr. Medina told her to put on a certain pair of pants and then "put the packet [of drugs] in my pants." She didn't want to put on the pants or hide the drugs but he gave her a look like he was going to hit her so she complied: "I already knew his look when he didn't like what I was saying.<sup>2</sup> So I went and put on the pants and put the drugs inside." T pg. 230, ln. 21 – pg. 231, ln. 3. He also forced her to drive the vehicle once they arrived in Idaho. T pg. 231, ln. 4-9. "And I got upset. We got into an argument. And then with his look, I already knew." T pg. 233, ln. 22-25. She later said that, "he would make me think what he wanted when he would hit me. That's what would happen." T pg. 235, ln. 25 – pg. 236, ln. 2.

Ms. Bernal-Valadez said that the money Mr. Joyce wired to her was done without her prior knowledge or permission. T pg. 236, ln. 17-18 ("He would just tell me, 'Okay, the guero, the white guy, he put money already in your account,' and he would give him my name.") When they retrieved the money, Mr. Medina took it. T pg. 240, ln. 20-23. ("And if you guys investigate and see the video there at the Wal -Mart on South 54th in Salt Lake City, you will see that he grabs the money. It was his."); pg. 242, ln. 3-7 ("Jersson would keep the money, and he would send it to his family. If you guys look it up, under Jersson Naftaly Medina, he would send money

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> She identified Mr. Medina at trial by saying "He's right in front of me, right here. And he has a brown uniform on, and he's looking at me angry." T pg. 230, ln. 11-13.

back to his parents; his mom, his dad, his brothers. I wouldn't keep any of it. He would take all the money."). She did not send any of the text messages to Mr. Joyce. T pg. 243, ln. 1-4. She did not have any control of that telephone at all. T pg. 240, ln. 5-7. ("That was completely his. It was completely his. It was just under my name because of the company that he got it with, you had to have an ID.").

When the prosecutor asked, "Why did you put the package down your pants?" she answered: "Well, I put -- I put it because he told me to. And I had to do what he told me. If not, he would get upset with me, and he would tell me mean things, and then he would mistreat me." T pg. 242, ln. 22-25. And when defense counsel asked, "Did you conspire with Mr. Medina to bring drugs from Utah to Idaho? She said:

A What's "conspire"?

Q Agree to bring drugs to Idaho?

A I was not in agreement with him. He just told me to do it, so I did it. T pg. 245, ln 3-6.

In light of the above, the state failed to present sufficient evidence to prove there was an agreement between Mr. Medina and Ms. Bernal-Valadez. So, unless there is evidence that Mr. Medina entered into an agreement with an unnamed conspirator, there is not sufficient evidence to prove the conspiracy. As will be shown below, there is no such evidence.

6. <u>There was no agreement with Detective Edgley to traffic in heroin.</u>

The only other person Mr. Medina could have been found to have agreed with is Detective Edgley. But that is not possible as a matter of law because it is "wellestablished that one who acts as a government agent and enters into a purported conspiracy in the secret role of an informer cannot be a co-conspirator." United States v. Chase, 372 F.2d 453, 459 (4th Cir.), cert denied, 387 U.S. 907 (1967), citing Sears v. United States, 343 F.2d 139, 142 (5th Cir. 1965) ("as it takes two to conspire, there can be no indictable conspiracy with a government informer who secretly intends to frustrate the conspiracy") citing United States v. Wray, 8 F.2d 429 (N.D. Ga. 1925)). "Unless at least two people commit [the act of agreeing], no one does. When one of two persons merely pretends to agree, the other party, whatever he may believe, is in fact not conspiring with anyone." United States v. Rosenblatt, 554 F.2d 36, 38 (2d Cir. 1977), quoting Developments in the Law -Criminal Conspiracy, 72 Harv.L.Rev. 920, 926 (1959); Accord: United States v. Escobar de Bright, 742 F.2d 1196, 1198 (9th Cir. 1984) (adopting Sears rule); see also United States v. Barnes, 604 F.2d 121, 161 (2d Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 907 (1980) ("The Government showed that [the defendant's] involvement was more far-ranging than simply having conspired with Government agents, for which no conspiratorial liability could be imposed.").

In sum, since neither Mr. Joyce nor Ms. Bernal-Valadez entered into a conspiratorial agreement with Mr. Medina, and because Detective Edgley could not have done so because his intent was to thwart the enterprise, the state failed to present sufficient evidence to prove the agreement element of the conspiracy charge beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, the conviction is in violation of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment under *State v. Morales, supra*,

Jackson v. Virginia, supra, and In re Winship, supra. It should be vacated and a judgment of acquittal entered.

7. <u>Alternatively, a new trial is required because this Court cannot</u> <u>determine whether the jury based its finding of a conspiracy based</u> <u>upon an agreement with Joyce or Bernal-Valadez.</u>

In the event the Court finds that the evidence was sufficient as to only one named co-conspirator, it should reverse the conviction and remand for a new trial. If, for example, the Court finds there was sufficient evidence to show Mr. Medina had an agreement with Ms. Bernal-Valadez, it is still possible the jurors did not unanimously find that agreement existed. Or, the jury could have unanimously found there was only an agreement between Mr. Medina and Mr. Joyce. In either case, the verdict would not be supported by constitutionally sufficient evidence, as required by the due process clause. *Jackson v. Virginia, supra; In re Winship, supra.* It would not be possible for this Court to determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury unanimously found the same agreement it found sufficient. Consequently, the state could not meet its burden of proving the constitutional error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Chapman v. California,* 386 U.S. 18 (1967); *State v. Perry, supra.* 

# B. It was Fundamental Error to Permit Mr. Medina to Appear Before the Jury Shackled.

### 1. <u>Facts pertinent to issue</u>

During the trial, Mr. Medina was in jail garb and shackled. T pg. 257, ln. 25 – pg. 258, ln. 2 (Testimony of Detective Paul Olsen: "He's seated at the table directly

in front of me in a brown jumper with orange shoes"); T pg. 301, ln. 12-13 (Sgt. Todd

Orr: "He has a jumpsuit with the orange shoes, black hair."); T pg. 165, ln. 23-25

(Det. Lee Edgley: "Hispanic male with black hair. He's wearing . . . [a] jumpsuit

with orange shoes, and that's who we identified as Jersson Roque Medina."). Mr.

Joyce testified:

MS. PRICE: And for the record, could you describe what he looks like and what he's wearing, please?

JOYCE: He's wearing a white long sleeve shirt, orange Crocs, chains, and a tan jumpsuit.

MS. PRICE: Your Honor, I would ask that the record reflect that Mr. Joyce has identified the defendant.

THE COURT: So reflected.

T pg. 193, ln. 4-11.

There was no objection to the shackling.

## 2. <u>It was fundamental error for the court to keep Mr. Medina shackled in</u> <u>front of the jury.</u>

This Court has held that in order to establish fundamental error the defendant must prove that the alleged error: (a) violates one or more of the defendant's unwaived constitutional rights; (b) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (in most instances) (c) was not harmless. *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 228, 245 P.3d 961, 980 (2010). All three requirements are present here.

(a) Keeping Mr. Medina in shackles violated his unwaived constitutional right to be free from unwarranted restraints.

The Fifth Amendment states that no person shall be "deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." U.S. Const. amend. V. And, "[l]iberty from bodily restraint always has been recognized as the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause from arbitrary governmental action." *Youngberg v. Romeo*, 457 U.S. 307, 316 (1982) (alteration in original), *quoting Greenholtz v. Neb. Penal Inmates*, 442 U.S. 1, 18 (1979) (Powell, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). This liberty interest includes the right to be free from shackles in the courtroom. *See Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 629-30 (2005). "Before a presumptively innocent defendant may be shackled, the court must make an individualized decision that a compelling government purpose would be served and that shackles are the least restrictive means for maintaining security and order in the courtroom." *United States v. Sanchez-Gomez*, 859 F.3d 649, 660-61 (9th Cir. 2017), *cert. granted on other grounds*, 138 S.Ct. 543 (2017).

The Supreme Court held in *Deck* that "the Constitution forbids the use of visible shackles during the penalty phase, as it forbids their use during the guilt phase, unless that use is 'justified by an essential state interest'—such as the interest in courtroom security—specific to the defendant on trial." *Deck*, 544 U.S. at 624, *quoting Holbrook v. Flynn*, 475 U.S. 560, 568-69 (1986). There are three constitutional bases for this right: (1) the Fifth Amendment presumption that a defendant is innocent until proven guilty; (2) the Sixth Amendment right to counsel

and participation in one's own defense; and (3) the dignity and decorum of the judicial process, which includes "the respectful treatment of defendants." *Id.* at 630-311; *accord Williams v. Woodford*, 384 F.3d 567, 591 (9th Cir. 2004) (criminal defendants have a "constitutional right to be free of shackles and handcuffs in the presence of the jury absent an essential state interest that justifies the physical restraints.") (citations omitted). There is nothing in the record showing that the court made a finding that an essential state interest justified the use of restraints during trial.

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