Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-21-2018

State v. Medina Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45117

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

error." (Appellant's brief, pp.15-16.) In doing so, he conflates the concepts of structural error and inherently prejudicial error. The erroneous use of physical restraints is inherently prejudicial but is not structural error. <u>See Deck</u>, 544 U.S. at 635.

"[A]s a general rule, most constitutional violations will be subject to harmless error review." <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 223, 245 P.3d at 975. Under a harmless error analysis, a constitutional error does not necessitate reversal where "the State proves 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained."" <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 221, 345 P.3d at 973. Structural errors or "structural defects" are the exception to the general rule that constitutional errors are subject to harmless error review. <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 222-23, 245 P.3d at 974-75. The U.S. Supreme Court has "found structural errors only in a very limited class of cases." <u>Johnson v. United States</u>, 520 U.S. 461, 468 (1997).

A structural error can never be harmless because it "'affects the framework within which the trial proceeds." <u>Weaver v. Massachusetts</u>, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1907 (2017) (quoting <u>Arizona v. Fulminante</u>, 499 U.S. 279, 310 (1991)). This means that proof of a structural error renders any harmless error analysis unnecessary. <u>Id.</u> ("[A] structural error 'def[ies] analysis by harmless error standards." (alteration in original) (quoting <u>Fulminante</u>, 499 U.S. at 309)). Put differently, the defendant need only prove the structural error occurred to obtain a reversal. <u>See Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 8 (1999) (observing structural errors are "subject to automatic reversal").

An "inherently prejudicial" error, on the other hand, can be harmless. <u>See Deck</u>, 544 U.S. at 635. In fact, the U.S. Supreme Court has expressly held that a shackling error can be harmless where, like other non-structural constitutional violations, the state proves

""beyond a reasonable doubt that the [shackling] error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained."" <u>Id.</u> (alteration in original) (quoting <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967)).⁶ And, because Medina failed to object to the use of the physical restraints at trial, he bears the burden of proving that the alleged error "was not harmless." <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980. He cannot do so.

First, there is no evidence in the record that any juror actually saw the physical restraints. See Larson v. Palmateer, 515 F.3d 1057, 1064 (9th Cir. 2008) ("To determine whether the imposition of physical restraints constitutes prejudicial error, we have considered the appearance and visibility of the restraining device"). The record reflects only that the jury *heard* Medina was in physical restraints—specifically, one fleeting word as part of a physical description. Cf. Wilson v. McCarthy, 770 F.2d 1482, 1486 (9th Cir. 1985) (holding brief view of defendant's shackles as he left the witness stand not prejudicial). The jury hearing that Medina was in physical restraints on that single occasion was far less prejudicial than, for example, the defendant in Deck who stood in plain view of the jury throughout the proceeding "shackled with leg irons, handcuffs, and a belly chain." 544 U.S. at 624; see Larson, 515 F.3d at 1064 (holding two-day shackling of defendant in six-day trial harmless, in part, because "a security leg brace is not as visually obtrusive or prejudicial a restraining device as handcuffs, leg irons, waist chains or gags"); Rhoden v. Rowland, 172 F.3d 633, 636 (9th Cir. 1999) ("[W]hen the defendant's shackling was not actually seen by the jury during the trial, we have held that the shackling was harmless error.").

⁶ Numerous post-<u>Deck</u> decisions have, in fact, found shackling errors harmless. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Lakin v. Stine</u>, 431 F.3d 959, 966 (6th Cir. 2005); <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 250 P.3d 1174, 1181 (Az. 2011); <u>People v. Robinson</u>, 872 N.E.2d 1061, 1074 (Ill. App. Ct. 2007).

Second, there is no evidence in the record that the physical restraints prevented Medina from working with his counsel or presenting his defense. <u>See Williams</u>, 52 A.3d at 34-35 (observing the court "cannot find harmful constitutional error" because "[t]here is not even a hint here that appellant could not confer productively with counsel and participate actively in his defense"). In fact, on appeal, Medina fails even to attempt to articulate how the physical restraints prevented him from presenting a defense. (Appellant's brief, p.17.)

Third, as to the trafficking heroin charge, any error in using the physical restraints was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Medina's guilt. <u>See Lakin</u>, 431 F.3d at 966 ("Despite the substantial risk of prejudice that shackles pose, we are compelled to conclude that the error was harmless in this case due to the overwhelming evidence against Lakin."). Detective Edgley testified that he had a text-message conversation with Medina using Joyce's phone on April 13-14, 2016, and Medina agreed to sell Detective Edgley 130 grams of heroin for \$8,000. (Trial Tr., p.145, L.2 – p.147, L.7.) The state corroborated that testimony with a video showing the text messages between Detective Edgley and Medina. (Trial Tr., p.147, L.8 – p.152, L.2; Exhibit 1.) The state further corroborated Detective Edgley's testimony with testimony from Valadez that on April 14 Medina gave her drugs to hide in her pants and told her they were going to Pocatello to sell drugs to Joyce. (Trial Tr., p.230, L.14 – p.232, L.18; p.234, Ls.3-6.) Detective Edgley also testified that, when Medina and Valadez were arrested, he called the number he had been texting and Medina's phone rang. (Trial Tr., p.152, Ls.16-24.)

The state also presented evidence that, when Medina and Valadez were arrested, Valadez had 125.64 grams of heroin hidden in her pants. (Trial Tr., p.266, Ls.4-15; p.319, L.24 – p.320, L.8.) The overwhelming weight of the evidence showed the heroin belonged to Medina. As explained above, Medina set up the sale of the heroin with Detective Edgley, and the amount of heroin found on Valadez (125.64 grams) was consistent with the amount of heroin Medina agreed to sell Detective Edgley (130 grams). Valadez testified that Medina gave her the heroin and instructed her to hide it in her pants. (Trial Tr., p.230, L.19 – p.231, L.12.) And the police captured a video of Medina and Valadez in the police car after their arrest and before the police found the heroin in which Medina makes numerous incriminating statements, including asking Valadez "[t]hey can't find it on you? Can they?"; asking Valadez "where she hid the drugs"; and stating that "[i]f he [God] helps us we are done, we are getting out of doing this." (State's Exhibit 4A.)

Medina's counsel conceded in closing argument that, given the evidence presented at trial, all that he could argue was that no one had seen Medina in physical possession of the heroin: "The trafficking charge, I heard the evidence; you heard the evidence. I hope you take a look at it. *The only thing I can hang hope on is the officer said he never saw my client traffic or any illegal drugs on him.*" (Trial Tr., p.365, Ls.17-24 (emphasis added).) He tried to convince the jury to acquit unless they found Medina had physical possession: "There's an argument what this possession means. You actually have it physically." (Trial Tr., p.361, Ls.22-23.) But, as even Medina's counsel ultimately had to concede, physical possession is not required. (R., p.380 ("A person has possession of something if the person knows of its presence and has physical control of it, *or has the power and intention to control it.*" (emphasis added); Trial Tr., p.365, Ls.21-22 ("And I will acknowledge that you don't have to have drugs on you for constructive possession.").)

The evidence of Medina's power and intent to control the heroin was not only overwhelming, it was Medina's defense to the conspiracy charge. Medina's counsel repeatedly argued that Medina and Valadez could not have entered into an agreement to traffic heroin because Medina forced Valadez to participate in the sale of heroin:

She did what she was told to do. If not, she got beaten, quote, from the state. He believed that my client forced Ms. Valadez. That doesn't sound like an agreement. That sounds like a violation of the 13th Amendment in the Constitution of the United States against involuntary servitude, absolutely.

(Trial Tr., p.362, L.20 – p.363, L.1.)

In fact, it was easy when Ms. Bernal, Sharon Bernal-Valadez, indicated that he did his thing, I went to work and did my thing. Again, there was no testimony from her that she conspiracy [sic] to do anything. She was here involuntary [sic]. She got the look. You'll do what I tell you. And she said she did.

(Trial Tr., p.363, Ls.14-19.) "And again, made it real clear that it wasn't something she wanted to do, which doesn't sound like a conspiracy. I hope you review that." (Trial Tr., p.365, Ls.14-16.) Regardless of whether Medina and Valadez agreed to traffic in heroin (as the state suggested) or Medina forced Valadez to traffic in heroin (as Medina suggested), Medina had the power and intent to control the 125.64 grams of heroin found on Valadez on April 14, 2016, which made him guilty of trafficking heroin. <u>See</u> I.C. § 37-2732B(6). Given the overwhelming evidence that Medina trafficked in heroin, which Medina embraced as his defense to the conspiracy charge, the use of the physical restraints was harmless with respect to the trafficking heroin charge. <u>See Lakin</u>, 431 F.3d at 966.

Fourth, as to the conspiracy charge, the prejudice that Medina alleges from the use of the physical restraints supported Medina's defense. <u>See State v. Johnson</u>, 126 Idaho 892, 895, 894 P.2d 125, 128 (1995) (holding error harmless because "[i]f anything, the trial

court's error benefitted [the defendant]"); <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 94 Idaho 430, 436, 489 P.2d 1310, 1316 (1971) (holding error harmless because "the benefits, if any, from the introduction of the statements obviously flowed to [the defendant]"). On appeal, Medina claims the use of the physical restraints conveyed a message to the jury that he was a "dangerous person" and that "Mr. Medina was a threat to the state's informants." (Appellant's brief, p.15.) But that was the message that *Medina* was *trying* to convey to the jury to defend himself against the conspiracy charge. As explained above, Medina's defense against the allegation that he conspired with Valadez was that there could be no agreement between Medina and Valadez because Medina forced Valadez to participate in the sale of the heroin by threat of violence. Because any inference the jury drew that Medina was dangerous supported Medina's defense on the conspiracy charge, any error in the use of the physical restraints was harmless as to that charge. <u>See Johnson</u>, 126 Idaho at 895, 894 P.2d at 128; <u>Thomas</u> 94 Idaho at 436, 489 P.2d at 1316.⁷

⁷ Medina also alleges that the use of physical restraints would have conveyed to the jury that he was "guilty of the charges." (Appellant's brief, p.15.) Although that message would not benefit Medina, there are at least three reasons why the risk of that particular prejudice was at least minimized in this case: (1) Medina was not on trial for a violent crime, see Stephenson v. Wilson, 619 F.3d 664, 668 (7th Cir. 2010) (observing shackling "might lead [jury] to prejudge [the defendant's] guilt, particularly in a trial for violent crimes"); (2) the physical restraints would not have done any more damage to the presumption of innocence than had already been done by the jail clothing, Estelle, 425 U.S. at 504 ("[A]n accused should not be compelled to go to trial in prison or jail clothing because of the possible impairment of the presumption" of innocence), which Medina presumably—under Estelle—had chosen to wear; and (3) the district court repeatedly instructed the jury that Medina was entitled to a presumption of innocence (Trial Tr., p.24, L.22 – p.25, L.1; p.40, Ls.1-10; p.71, Ls.10-11; p.102, Ls.2-18).

III.

Any Error In The Jury Instruction Did Not Rise To The Level Of Fundamental Error

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Medina must show fundamental error in the jury instructions because he did not object to the instructions at trial. He claims that five of the nine overt acts included in the conspiracy jury instruction could not, as a matter of law, qualify as overt acts for purposes of proving a conspiracy. But Medina cannot carry his burden on fundamental error review because he cannot show the alleged error was not harmless.

The error in the jury instructions was harmless because the state presented overwhelming evidence of two valid overt acts that were included in the list of nine potential overt acts in the conspiracy instruction—namely, that Medina and Valadez traveled to Joyce's apartment complex on April 16, 2016, in furtherance of their heroin trafficking conspiracy. Valadez testified that she traveled to Joyce's apartment complex on that date with Medina and 125.64 grams of cocaine that Medina had given to her to hide in her pants so that they could sell it to Joyce. Two police officers testified they saw Medina and Valadez arrive at Joyce's apartment complex on that date. Another police officer testified that a search of Valadez at Joyce's apartment complex on that date produced a package. The state's forensic scientist testified that the package contained 125.64 grams of heroin. The evidence that Medina and Valadez drove to Joyce's apartment on April 16, 2016, was not only overwhelming, Medina did not contest those facts at trial. Any error in the overt-act portion of the conspiracy instruction was thus harmless.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Medina concedes that he did not object to the jury instructions at trial. (Appellant's brief, p.19.) "If [an] alleged error was not followed by a contemporaneous objection, it shall only be reviewed by an appellate court under Idaho's fundamental error doctrine." Perry, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

C. <u>Medina Has Failed To Show The Inclusion Of The Invalid Overt Acts In The</u> <u>Conspiracy Jury Instruction Constituted Fundamental Error</u>

Medina cannot show that the conspiracy instruction given to the jury constituted fundamental error. In order to prove fundamental error, Medina must show that the alleged error (1) violated an unwaived constitutional right; (2) plainly exists, *and* (3) was not harmless. See Perry, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980. Medina's claim fails under fundamental error review because he cannot show the erroneous inclusion of invalid overt acts in the jury instruction was not harmless.

1. <u>The Conspiracy Instruction Contained Improper "Overt Acts"</u>

Under Idaho law, proof of a conspiracy requires more than just an agreement between two or more individuals to accomplish an illegal objective. <u>Smith</u>, 161 Idaho at 787, 391 P.3d at 1257. The state must also prove "'one or more overt acts in the furtherance of the illegal purpose accompanied by the requisite intent to commit the underlying substantive offense." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Garcia</u>, 102 Idaho 378, 384, 630 P.2d 665, 671 (1981)). This means, as a separate element of a conspiracy offense, the jury must find that one of the conspirators committed an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy. <u>See id.</u>

Here, the conspiracy jury instruction properly informed the jury that it had to find "one of the parties to the agreement performed at least one . . . act" and "such act was done for the purpose of carrying out the agreement." (R., pp.383-84.) The instruction provided the jurors with a list of nine options to satisfy the overt act requirement and made clear that the jury could convict only if it found one of the conspirators performed "at least one" of the nine overt acts on the list. (R., p.383.)

Medina claims that five of the nine acts "could not be an 'overt act' as a matter of law." (Appellant's brief, pp.19-21.) The state agrees that at least some of these acts should not have been included in the jury instruction.⁸ But the error was harmless.

2. Medina Cannot Show That The Error In The Jury Instruction Was Not Harmless

Medina cannot show that the inclusion of the five invalid overt acts in the jury instruction was not harmless. Where "the jury was instructed on alternative theories of guilt and may have relied on an invalid one," the instructional error is subject to harmless error analysis. <u>Hedgpeth v. Pulido</u>, 555 U.S. 57, 58, 61 (2008). In the context of an alternative-theory instructional error, the error is harmless where (1) the state presented "overwhelming" evidence for a conviction under a valid theory or (2) "if the jury, in

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